
 Continued Over/: 

Issued on 27 June 2014 
 

 
Alison Broom, Chief Executive, Maidstone Borough Council,  

Maidstone House, King Street, Maidstone  Kent  ME15 6JQ 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

SPECIAL STRATEGIC LEADERSHIP 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE MEETING  

 
Date: Monday 7 July 2014 
 

Time: 7.15 pm 
 

Venue: Town Hall, Royal Tunbridge Wells, Kent, TN1 
1RS 

 

Membership: 

 

Councillors: Black (Vice-Chairman), Butler, Edwards-Daem, 

Mrs Gooch (Chairman), Mrs Grigg, Long, Mrs Parvin, 

Pickett and Mrs Stockell 

 

 
 

 
Overview and Scrutiny 

 

 Page No. 

1. Apologies   

2. Notification of Substitute Members   

3. Notification of Visiting Members/Witnesses   

4. Disclosures by Members and Officers   

5. To consider whether any items should be taken in private 

because of the possible disclosure of exempt information  

 

6. Review of the Mid Kent Improvement Partnership  1 - 27 

 The following guest speakers will attend the meeting to present 
on three topics – governance, communication and the key 
objectives of the Mid Kent Services Director during 2014-15.  

 
Guest speakers include: Paul Taylor, Mid Kent Services 

Director; Jane Clarke, MKIP Programme Manager; Alison 
Broom, Chief Executive of Maidstone Borough Council and 
William Benson, Chief Executive of Tunbridge Wells Borough 

Council.  
 

 



 
 

 

The reports included in Part I of this agenda can be made available in 

alternative formats. For further information about this service, or to 

arrange for special facilities to be provided at the meeting, please contact     
Christian Scade on 01622 602523. To find out more about the work of 

the Overview and Scrutiny Committees, please visit 
www.maidstone.gov.uk/osc 



 

Maidstone Borough Council 

Strategic Leadership and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee  

Monday 7 July 2014 

 

Review of the Mid Kent Improvement Partnership     

 

While reading the following report you may want to think about: 

• What you want to know from the report; 

• What questions you would like answered. 

Make a note of your questions in the box below. 

As you read the report you may think of other questions . 

Questions I would like to ask regarding this report: 

 

•  

 

•  

 

•  

 

•  

 

•  

Agenda Item 6

1



Mid Kent Improvement Partnership 

Background 

The Mid Kent Improvement Partnership was formed in 2008 between Ashford, Maidstone, 

Swale and Tunbridge Wells borough councils. Ashford subsequently withdrew from the 

partnership and it now comprises just Maidstone, Swale and Tunbridge Wells. The first MKIP 

partnership was Mid Kent Audit which went live as a four-way shared service in 2009. 

Members of the Strategic Leadership and Corporate Services Overview & Scrutiny 

Committee (MBC) and the Overview & Scrutiny Committee (TWBC) have asked to look at 

the Partnership with a particular emphasis on three issues: governance, communication and 

the role of the recently appointed Mid Kent Services Director. Members of Swale Overview & 

Scrutiny Committee will also be in attendance at this meeting.  

This brief report sets out to address each of these three issues in turn in order to provide 

some background to the evidence session which has been arranged on 7 July 2014.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

National Context 

Nationally, a great many councils are involved in sharing services. In 2012, 219 councils 

were involved in shared services delivering £156.5m savings. By 2013, that number had 

risen to 337 councils delivering £278m savings. Government is strongly encouraging local 

councils to share services and staff and, whilst the primary motivation for most councils is to 

save money, there are numerous benefits including: 

Recommendations: 

Governance 

(1) That the Overview & Scrutiny Committees advise how they wish to take forward any 

outstanding issues in respect of MKIP’s governance arrangements. 

Communication 

(2) That the Overview & Scrutiny Committees welcome the development of a 

communications plan. 

(3) That the Overview & Scrutiny Committees agree how they wish to be involved in the 

development of the communications plan. 

(4) That the Overview & Scrutiny Committees agree that a contact list be circulated to 

staff and elected members on the key contacts for shared service enquiries. 

Role of Mid Kent Services Director 

(5) That the Overview & Scrutiny Committees welcome the MKIP evaluation framework 

and cross-authority officer group in place to review and assess the Mid Kent Services 

Director role. 

(6) That the Mid Kent Services Director be invited back to a joint meeting of, or individual 

authority Overview & Scrutiny Committees in six months time to provide an interim 

update on progress.  

Item 6 

2



§ Economies of scale, sharing systems and processes and carrying out common work 

once rather than three times; 

§ The ability to improve purchasing power and to deliver procurement savi

§ The ability to develop specialisms (e.g. in Legal Services and Environmental Health) 

across the three sites limiting the need to buy in expensive external resources and to 

reduce the impact of absences;

§ Improving resilience across the partnership to m

mitigate the impact of staff leaving or being absent for some other reason;

§ Providing opportunities for staff to learn and develop;

Nature and extent of services

There are currently nine shared services within MKIP as follows: 

 
§ Audit  
§ Environmental Health 
§ Graphic Design (TWBC/Maidstone)
§ HR (Maidstone/Swale) 
§ ICT  

 
MKIP spend and staff numbers are set out below.

 

Savings 

 

We are able to demonstrate good value on investment. By the end of 2013/14 MKIP will 

have delivered £5.5m worth of savings for £1.8m worth of investment. On existing business 

case projections this is predicted to rise to £13.3m (£2.25m annually) for £2.15m o

investment after 10 years of MKIP (2017/18). This represents £6 returned for every £1 

invested.  

Governance and decision-making

 

The partnership began with a relatively ‘light touch’ approach to governance recognising a 

desire to get on and deliver share

subsequently be built upon (‘trust’ is consistently earmarked as being the most important 

ingredient of any successful partnership. The original objectives of the Partnership were to:

§ improve the quality of service to communities; 

§ improve the resilience of service delivery; 

§ deliver efficiency saving in the procurement, management and delivery of services; 

Economies of scale, sharing systems and processes and carrying out common work 

once rather than three times;  

The ability to improve purchasing power and to deliver procurement savi

The ability to develop specialisms (e.g. in Legal Services and Environmental Health) 

across the three sites limiting the need to buy in expensive external resources and to 

reduce the impact of absences; 

Improving resilience across the partnership to manage spikes in workload and to help 

mitigate the impact of staff leaving or being absent for some other reason;

Providing opportunities for staff to learn and develop; 

Nature and extent of services 

There are currently nine shared services within MKIP as follows:  

Graphic Design (TWBC/Maidstone) 

 

§ Legal  
§ Parking Enforcement (Maidstone/Swale)
§ Planning Support 
§ Revenues and Benefits 

(TWBC/Maidstone) 
 

MKIP spend and staff numbers are set out below. 

 

are able to demonstrate good value on investment. By the end of 2013/14 MKIP will 

have delivered £5.5m worth of savings for £1.8m worth of investment. On existing business 

case projections this is predicted to rise to £13.3m (£2.25m annually) for £2.15m o

investment after 10 years of MKIP (2017/18). This represents £6 returned for every £1 

making 

The partnership began with a relatively ‘light touch’ approach to governance recognising a 

desire to get on and deliver shared services and to establish a track record that could 

subsequently be built upon (‘trust’ is consistently earmarked as being the most important 

ingredient of any successful partnership. The original objectives of the Partnership were to:

y of service to communities;  

improve the resilience of service delivery;  

deliver efficiency saving in the procurement, management and delivery of services; 

Economies of scale, sharing systems and processes and carrying out common work 

The ability to improve purchasing power and to deliver procurement savings; 

The ability to develop specialisms (e.g. in Legal Services and Environmental Health) 

across the three sites limiting the need to buy in expensive external resources and to 

anage spikes in workload and to help 

mitigate the impact of staff leaving or being absent for some other reason; 

Parking Enforcement (Maidstone/Swale) 

Revenues and Benefits 

 

are able to demonstrate good value on investment. By the end of 2013/14 MKIP will 

have delivered £5.5m worth of savings for £1.8m worth of investment. On existing business 

case projections this is predicted to rise to £13.3m (£2.25m annually) for £2.15m of 

investment after 10 years of MKIP (2017/18). This represents £6 returned for every £1 

The partnership began with a relatively ‘light touch’ approach to governance recognising a 

d services and to establish a track record that could 

subsequently be built upon (‘trust’ is consistently earmarked as being the most important 

ingredient of any successful partnership. The original objectives of the Partnership were to: 

deliver efficiency saving in the procurement, management and delivery of services;  

3



§ explore opportunities for trading in the medium to long-term; and 

§ share best practice. 

The partnership began opportunistically (i.e. capitalising on circumstances where a manager 

was leaving or where one or more authorities had a need to strengthen their service offer) 

but has become more structured in its approach over recent years following a recognition 

that certain support services (such as ICT and HR) are important ‘enablers’ to shared 

services. 

In 2012, each authority agreed a set of formal governance arrangements (attached at 

Appendix A) that cover issues such as the objectives of the partnership, membership and 

meeting procedures and decision-making arrangements. The report explicitly sets out 

arrangements for involving overview and scrutiny as follows: 

“Overview and Scrutiny arrangements will be undertaken individually by each of the Parties 

when the Parties consider the Proposals and Recommendations from the MKIP as part of 

their decision making processes. However, it is envisaged that joint scrutiny meetings may 

be considered when appropriate as the Partnership develops. The Lead Director/Project 

Manager for a particular project would attend meetings as required”. 

Since the document was agreed, Tunbridge Wells has changed its decision-making 

procedures so as to establish a form of pre-decision scrutiny in the form of ‘Cabinet Advisory 

Boards’ and all Cabinet decisions on MKIP partnerships are first taken through these Board 

(which are largely made up of ‘back-bench’ councillors).  

Whilst key decisions remain with the individual cabinets of each of the three authorities, 

MKIP is overseen by an MKIP Board on a day-to-day basis which is made of up Leaders and 

Chief Executives. MKIP also jointly employs a project manager (on a temporary basis) to 

support the Board. 

Following concerns about the length of time taken to deliver shared services, MKIP has now 

adopted a ‘Gateway’ model as set out below. Whilst the initial stage of projects are overseen 

by the MKIP Board, decisions to proceed to implement a shared service are reserved to 

individual Cabinets. 

 

§ Defining: MKIP Board agrees to the inclusion of a service in the programme; 

§ Gateway 1 (Initiating the programme): the MKIP Programme Manager produces a report 

for approval by the Board which included details of the scope of the partnership, red 

lines, governance arrangements, communications strategy, collaboration agreement 

templates and consideration of resourcing;  

§ Gateway 2 (Viability study/business case): sets out details of likely savings and whether 

or not a shared service is viable. Any decision will be taken by each individual authority’s 

cabinet (usually at a simultaneous meeting); 

§ Gateway 3 (Implementation): sets out a broad implementation timetable with precise 

details delegated to the shared service manager;  

4



§ Benefits Realisation: the shared service comes under MKIP governance with regular 

reporting of benefits delivered and monitoring of continuous improvement. 

Communication 

 

It is probably true to say that there is always more that can be done to communicate key 

developments with MKIP but a number of devices have been used including:  

For Members: 

§ Presentations to cabinet advisory boards and overview and scrutiny committees 

§ Presentations to parish councils and (in Tunbridge Wells) the Town Forum 

§ Discussions at Full Council as part of the development of key policy framework 

documents 

§ Committee/Cabinet reports and presentations  at Cabinet 

§ Councillors’ newsletters 

§ Member briefings and seminars 

§ Portfolio holder meetings 

§ Meetings with group leaders 

§ Discussions at group meetings 

§ Circulation of the annual report and performance data 

For Staff: 

§ Articles in staff newsletters 

§ Briefing sessions to staff 

§ Information being cascaded down through senior, middle manager and team meetings 

§ Information on the intranet and discussion forums 

§ Consultation exercises 

§ CEx Blogs 

As well as communicating, sessions have been held with each council (and one joint session 

held between all three councils) to discuss potential ‘red lines’ within each authority. 

We would welcome views from the scrutiny committees as to how communication can be 

improved and what information they would like to receive and how they would like to be 

involved in decision-making processes. 

As a minimum, MKIP needs to ensure that Members: 

§ Are comfortable with the level and pace of delivery for shared services and collaborative 

working. 

§ Have a good understanding of how the governance arrangements work, and where their 

opportunities are to influence and alter decisions around shared services and 

collaborative working projects. 

§ Are able to explain to their communities how shared services and collaborative working 

works, and how it helps to meet the political aims and vision for each council. 

Work is currently under way to put together a unified Communications Plan and we would 

welcome the views of the committees as to whether and how they might want to be involved 

in this process. 

5



Mid Kent Services Director 

 

As more services have entered the Mid Kent Improvement Partnership it makes sense for 

them to be led in a coordinated manner and overseen so as to ensure that they are delivered 

effectively and coherently. It is also important for staff to have a sense of direction and of 

how they relate to other MKS services and services outside of MKS within the MKIP 

authorities. 

Leaders and Chief Executives have therefore agreed to trial an arrangement for a shared 

Mid Kent Services Director using external government funding. The trial will enable the MKIP 

authorities to assess whether further efficiencies can be extracted (for example by combining 

disparate support functions or widening managerial spans of control) and to consider 

whether further senior management savings can be extracted from the three organisations. 

We also hope the arrangement will help address a number of the ‘snagging issues’ that have 

been identified by existing shared service managers and allow new services entering MKIP 

to be managed and integrated in a sensible way that both takes account of past lessons 

learned and allows the support services within MKIP (such as HR, ICT and Legal) to be 

more effectively used in support of the project team. 

Paul Taylor was appointed as Mid Kent Services Director (MKSD) in May 2014 to act as a 

single point of contact for: 

§ Mid Kent Audit (four-way with ABC); 

§ Mid Kent HR and Payroll (two-way MBC and SBC); 

§ Mid Kent ICT (inc. GIS) (three-way); 

§ Mid Kent Legal (three-way); and 

§ Mid Kent Revenues and Benefits (inc. Fraud) (two-way MBC and TWBC). 

A project team was set up in April 2014 to provide an independent assessment of the MKSD 

post, and has been asked to report back to the MKIP Board in a year’s time with their 

findings and a recommendation regarding the continuation of the post. The project team 

members are: Zena Cooke, Director of Regeneration and Communities, MBC (Chair); 

Jonathan MacDonald, Deputy Chief Executive, TWBC; and Phil Wilson, Chief Accountant, 

SBC; Val Green, Head of Organisational Development, TWBC; Holly Goring, Policy and 

Performance Manager, TWBC; and Jane Clarke, MKIP Programme Manager. The 

assessment criteria that will be used to define the trial period are appended at Appendix C of 

this report. 

In essence, they relate to establishing a vision and identity for shared services, accepting 

new and consolidating existing partnerships, improving and streamlining performance and 

governance arrangements and plotting a course for the future. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

Governance 

(1) That the Overview & Scrutiny Committees advise how they wish to take forward any 

outstanding issues in respect of MKIP’s governance arrangements. 

6



Communication 

(2) That the Overview & Scrutiny Committees welcome the development of a 

communications plan. 

(3) That the Overview & Scrutiny Committees agree how they wish to be involved in the 

development of the communications plan. 

(4) That the Overview & Scrutiny Committees agree that a contact list be circulated to staff 

and elected members on the key contacts for shared service enquiries. 

Role of Mid Kent Services Director 

(5) That the Overview & Scrutiny Committees welcome the MKIP evaluation framework and 

cross-authority officer group in place to review and assess the Mid Kent Services Director 

role. 

(6) That the Mid Kent Services Director be invited back to a joint meeting of, or individual 

authority Overview & Scrutiny Committees in six months time to provide an interim update 

on progress.  

APPENDICES TO THE REPORT 

 

APPENDIX A: Mid Kent Improvement Partnership chart 

APPENDIX B: Mid Kent Improvement Partnership Governance arrangements 

APPENDIX C: Project team assessment criteria for Mid Kent Services Director 

 

 

 

7



 

 

 

 APPENDIX A 

8



         APPENDIX B 

 
 

GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS – MID KENT IMPROVEMENT PARTNERSHIP 
(MKIP) AND MKIP SHARED SERVICES 

 
UPDATED MAY 2012 

 

 
MID KENT IMPROVEMENT PARTNERSHIP (MKIP) - GOVERNANCE 

 
These arrangements relate to Maidstone Borough Council, Swale Borough Council, 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council and are made pursuant to the Local Government 

Act 1972, Local Government Act 2000 and the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007. 

 
1. Key Principles 
 

1.1 Each of the Parties has determined by resolution to establish a collaborative 
partnership to become effective from September 2008 for the purposes of 

developing joint and shared services across their administrative areas. 
 

1.2 The partnership was established as the Mid Kent Improvement Partnership 
(MKIP) and operated for an initial period of four years. It has now been 
agreed to extend the partnership for a further four years.  A minimum of six 

months notice is required for any Party to leave the MKIP (see clause 16). 
 

1.3 The Parties are committed to establishing an MKIP Board and which will 
consider the co-ordination of selected services and partnership activities 
across the combined administrative area through mutual co-operation. 

 
1.4 The Parties are committed to open and transparent working and proper 

scrutiny through the arrangements in each authority and this will challenge 

and support the work of the MKIP. 
 

1.5 Any new parties to these arrangements after they become effective will have 
all the same rights and responsibilities under these arrangements. 

 
2. Definitions 
 

2.1  ‘Administrative Area’ means the local government areas of the Parties. 
 

2.2 ‘Decisions’ means those decisions taken by each authority under their 
individual governance arrangements. 

 

 
2.3 ‘Host Authority’ means the local authority appointed by the Parties under 

these arrangements to service MKIP or to lead on a specific matter as set out 
in Clause 12.  

9



         APPENDIX B 

 
2.4  ‘Joint Service’ is one where each of the Parties will retain their own 

dedicated team but the teams will work alongside each other, unless other 
arrangements are agreed. 

 
2.5 ‘MKIP Board’ means the Leaders and Chief Executives of each of the Parties. 
 

2.6 ‘Parties’ means Maidstone Borough Council, Swale Borough Council and 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council. 

 
2.7 ‘Proposal’ means a business case to be developed for initial consideration by 

each of the Parties. 

 
2.8 ‘Recommendation’ means a Proposal agreed by the MKIP Board and put 

forward for decision by each of the Parties individually or collectively. 
 
2.9 ‘Shared Service’ means a service delivering functions as agreed by two or 

more of the Parties where all or part of the service is managed by a single 
Party. 

 
3. Objectives 

 
3.1 The objectives of the Mid Kent Improvement Partnership are to work 

together in partnership- 

 
(a) To improve the quality of service to communities; 

(b) To improve the resilience of service delivery; 
(c) To deliver efficiency savings in the procurement, management and 

delivery of services; 

(d) To explore opportunities for trading in the medium to long-term;  
(e) To share best practice; and 

(f) To stabilise or reduce the environmental impact of service provision. 

 
4. Functions 

 
4.1 An MKIP Work Programme covering 4 years shall be established and owned 

by the MKIP Board who may appoint a Programme Manager who shall have 
the role set out in Annex E to manage and deliver the programme.  The 
programme will be developed and delivered using the Gateway Decision 

Making Process setout in Annex A.   

5. Terms of Reference 

5.1 The terms of reference for the MKIP Board are set out in Annex B. 

 
5.2 The terms of reference for the Project Boards are set out in Annex C. 

 
5.3 These terms of reference will be reviewed annually  by the Parties.  

10



         APPENDIX B 

 
6. Membership and Meeting Procedures 

 
6.1 The MKIP Board shall comprise the leaders and chief executives of each of 

the Parties.  Named substitutes will be identified for the Leader (Cabinet 
Member) and for the Chief Executive (Director) to attend when necessary. 

 

6.2 Kent County Council may send a non-voting representative (or substitute) to 
the MKIP Board meetings  

 
 
7. Frequency of Meetings 

 
7.1 The MKIP Board will meet quarterly at a time and place agreed by its 

members, who may change the frequency of meetings and call additional 
meetings as required. 

 

8. Agenda Setting and Access to Meetings and Information 
 

8.1 The agenda of the MKIP Board shall be agreed by the Chairman following a 
briefing by officers of the Parties.  Any member of the Management Board 

may require that an item be placed on the agenda of the next available 
meeting for consideration, and may call for a meeting to be held. 

 

8.2 Notice of the Management Board meetings and access to agendas and 
reports will be applied as if the meeting was covered by the Local Authorities 

(Executive Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England) Amendment 
Regulations 2000 and 2002 or section 100 A-K and Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972, as appropriate. 

 
9. Project Boards 

 

9.1 Project Boards will be established, on a project basis, by unanimous 
agreement of the MKIP Board. The Project Board must put a Project Team in 

place with adequate Project Management support put in place. 
 

9.2 When establishing additional projects the MKIP Board will agree:– 
 

(a) The terms of reference for the project, including outline scope and 

timescales; 
(b) Size and membership of the board including any external advisors; 

(c) Period of operation; 
(d) Budget for the project*; 
(e) Tolerances for cost, quality and timescales* 

(f) Success criteria for the project* 
(g) Mechanisms for hosting the project and sharing the cost amongst the 

various Parties, as appropriate.* 
 

11



         APPENDIX B 

9.3 The process for the production and consideration of business cases will follow 
the Gateway Decision Making process (Annex A).  In the first instance a 

Project Board including Lead Director (or other senior officer) will be 
appointed with the MKIP Board receiving a Business Case at a later date on 

which to make a decision to commit to the project and establish (d), (e), (f) 
and (g) marked * above 

 

9.4 Projects will be carried out in accordance with any agreed project framework 
that the MKIP Board has adopted.  Whether in line with any adopted 

framework or not the MKIP Board may request an update and/or take 
decisions relating to a project if it determines that changes need to be made 
or it is not satisfied with project performance. 

 
10. Meetings and Chairing of Meetings 

 
10.1 The Chairman and Vice Chairman of the MKIP Board will be the Leaders of 

the Parties appointed on the basis of the position being rotated annually, as 

follows: 
 

   Chairman  Vice Chairman 
 

   Tunbridge Wells Maidstone 
   Maidstone   Swale 
   Swale   Tunbridge Wells 

        
 

10.2 In the absence of the Chairman and the Vice Chairman at a meeting the 
meeting will elect a chairman for that meeting who shall be a Leader. 

 

10.3 The quorum for the MKIP Board will be five with at least one person present 
from each of the Parties. 

 

10.4 The MKIP Board may approve rules for meetings and procedures from time to 
time. The Chairman will also act as the ‘Host’ authority for the MKIP (see 

clause 12).  
 

11. Decision Making 
 
11.1 Recommendations from MKIP Board will normally be made by consensus.  

Alternatively a vote shall be taken when requested by the Chairman.  The 
vote will normally be by way of a show of hands.  A simple majority will be 

required.  
 
11.2 The MKIP Board may make Proposals and Recommendations for partnership 

working between two or more of the Parties.  When this is the case, 
consensus will only be required by the Parties involved. 

 

12



         APPENDIX B 

11.3 The MKIP Board may make proposals and recommendations for the 
establishment of Shared or part Shared Services between two or more of the 

Parties.  Where this is the case consensus will only be required by the Parties 
involved. 

 
11.4 The Parties that did not take part in an initial Shared Service or partnership 

arrangement may do so at a later date subject to a Recommendation from 

the MKIP Board and agreement by all the Parties involved in the service. Any 
costs associated with joining later would be agreed between the Parties 

involved. 
 
12. Host Authorities and Allocation of Roles 

 
12.1 In order to achieve the objectives of the MKIP, the Parties will appoint a Host 

Authority which is, for the time being, the Authority providing the Chairman 
pursuant to clause 10.1. 

 

12.2 Staff from the Host Authority who provide services to the MKIP Board as part 
of the administration of the MKIP will, at all times, be deemed to be 

employees of the Host Authority with the exception that in the case of a 
secondment of a member of staff from one partner to MKIP their pay and 

terms and conditions shall remain as those of the employer of their 
substantive role. 

 

12.3 Any external support to develop business cases may be funded from the 
MKIP budget with a Lead Director for each business case appointed from 

amongst the Parties.  The Business Case will need to be approved by the 
MKIP Board.   

 

 
13. Budgetary Arrangements 

 

13.1 A dedicated budget will be established to take forward the work of MKIP and 
will be overseen by the MKIP Board who may appoint a Programme Manager 

or other officer as appropriate for the day to day management of the budget. 
 

13.2 Each Party will make a per-head-of-population contribution to MKIP.  This 
funding will be used to establish a budget to enable external advice to be 
sought (when required) to ensure initiatives are progressed in a timely 

manner and to explore external funding. The payment will be made on (1 
April) of each year. 

 
The initial contribution will be 30p per head of population per annum using 
the most up to date population estimates (current population estimates of 

Maidstone 142,800, Swale 128,500 and Tunbridge Wells 104,600).  Any 
funds that are not spent or committed at the year end will be returned based 

on the proportions outlined above or carried over, as agreed by MKIP Board. 
 

13



         APPENDIX B 

13.3 Maidstone Borough Council will be the accountable body for MKIP and will 
manage the financial arrangements and will hold the budget. This 

administration will not be funded from the MKIP budget at this stage as the 
annual cost is expected to be minimal, but will be subject to review on an 

annual basis. 
 
13.4 The cost of implementing any recommendation will be dealt with separately 

between the Parties who are taking the initiative forward.  
 

13.5 The development of a shared or joint service will offer many advantages and 
these include:- 

 

(a) To improve the quality of service to communities; 
(b) To improve the resilience of service delivery; 

(c) To deliver efficiency saving in the procurement, management and 
delivery of services; 

(d) To explore opportunities for trading in the medium to long-term;  

(e) To share best practice; 
(f) To stabilise or reduce the environmental impact of service provision;  

(g) To assist with recruitment and retention; 
(h) To improve value for money; 

(i) To improve public satisfaction ratings; and 
(j) To impact and improve on external assessments and measures. 
 

How these elements will be accounted for in apportioning the costs of any 
Joint or Shared Services will be considered as part of the final 

recommendations to each of the Parties involved in delivering the new 
service. 

 

13.6 MKIP will actively seek external funding to progress joint and shared 
services.  This funding would be sought at both the business case 

development phase and also the implementation phase. 

 
14.  Scrutiny Arrangements 

 
14.1 Overview and Scrutiny arrangements will be undertaken individually by each 

of the Parties when the Parties consider the Proposals and Recommendations 
from the MKIP as part of their decision making processes. However, it is 
envisaged that joint scrutiny meetings may be considered when appropriate 

as the Partnership develops. The Lead Director/Project Manager for a 
particular project would attend meetings as required.  

 
15. Amendments to these Governance Arrangements 
 

15.1 These arrangements will be reviewed on an annual basis and may be 
amended by a unanimous recommendation of the MKIP Board and 

subsequent agreement by all of the Parties. 
 

14



         APPENDIX B 

 
16. New Membership and Cessation of Membership 

 
16.1 Other councils, or public bodies, may join the Mid-Kent Improvement 

Partnership provided that the Executive/Council of the joining Council and 
that of all of the Parties are unanimously in agreement. 

 

16.2 Any of the Parties may cease to be a party to these arrangements following a 
notice of cessation made subsequent to a decision of that authority. A 

minimum of six months notice is required for any Party to leave the MKIP. 
 
16.3 On any of the Parties ceasing to be a party to these arrangements, these 

arrangements shall continue unless the remaining Parties unanimously 
determine that those arrangements shall terminate.  The benefits and 

burdens of such termination shall be agreed between the Parties and in 
default of such agreement shall be determined in accordance with 17.1 

 

16.4 Termination of these arrangements may occur by agreement of all of the 
Parties. 

 
17. Dispute Resolution 

 
17.1 In the event of one or more of the authorities being dissatisfied with any 

aspect of a shared service or element of joint working to the extent that they 

wish to take or would wish to have another authority take remedial action 
this will first be discussed by the Heads of Paid Service involved in the 

relevant Shared Service having consulted with the Chair of the relevant 
Shared Service Board. Leaders of the Council shall be kept informed of the 
discussions and any authority may request that the issue be brought to the 

next MKIP Board meeting for resolution. 

If agreement on the matter cannot be reached between those parties or at 

the MKIP Board meeting then if there is one authority who is not involved in 
the dispute or an agreement can reached on an external (to MKIP) party they 

will act as an independent mediator to resolve the issue.  In the event that 
agreement cannot be reached having followed those procedures then the 

arbitration clause below will be followed (see flowchart in Annex F)  

17.2 Arbitration 

Any dispute between the Parties arising out of these arrangements which has 

not been resolved in accordance with the MKIP dispute resolution procedure 
where appropriate may on written notice from any party to the dispute to the 

other party be referred to a single arbitrator to be agreed between the 
Parties or where no agreement can be reached and having regard to the 
nature of the dispute by an arbitrator nominated by the chairman of the Local 

Government Association and will be carried out in accordance with the 

15



         APPENDIX B 

provisions of the Arbitration Act 1996 as amended modified and in force for 
the time being. 

 
18. Claims and Liabilities 

 
18.1 The purpose of these arrangements and any actions taken under them is to 

assist all of the Parties (or those of the Parties as are engaged in any 

particular Joint or Shared Service).  The Parties therefore have agreed that:- 
 

(a) all of the costs attributable to the provision of any Shared or Joint 
Service shall be apportioned between those of the Parties that are 
engaged in the service and in such proportions as they shall agree 

(and if not otherwise then in equal shares). 
 

(b) where one of the Parties takes responsibility for leading on a particular 
business case and undertakes actions or incurs liabilities in that 
respect then it shall be entitled to be indemnified by the other Parties 

for the appropriate proportion of all of its costs and liabilities incurred 
in good faith. 

 
18.2 Each of the Parties shall at all times take all reasonable steps within its power 

to minimise and mitigate for any loss for which it is seeking reimbursement 
from any of the other Parties. 

 

19. Data Protection, Freedom of Information, Information sharing and 
Confidentiality 

 
19.1 Subject to the specific requirements of this clause, each of the Parties shall 

comply with its legal requirements under data protection legislation, freedom 

of information and associated legislation, and the law relating to 
confidentiality. 

 

19.2 Each Party involved with the development of a business case or delivery of a 
Shared or Joint Service will ensure compliance with any legislative or legal 

requirements. 
 

19.3 Each of the Parties shall:- 
 

(a) treat as confidential all information relating to: 

(i) the business and operations of the other Parties and/or 
(ii) the business or affairs of any legal or natural person in relation 

to which or to whom confidential information was held by that 
Party (‘Confidential Information’) 
 

(b) not to disclose the Confidential Information of any other of the Parties 
without the owner’s prior written consent 

 
19.4 Clause 19.3 shall not apply to the extent that: 

16



         APPENDIX B 

 
(a) such information was in the possession of the Party making the 

disclosure, without obligation of confidentiality, prior to its disclosure; 
or 

 
(b) such information was obtained from a third party without obligation of 

confidentiality; or 

 
(c) such information was already in the public domain at the time of 

disclosure otherwise than through a breach of these arrangements; or 
 

(d) disclosure is required by law (including under Data Protection 

Legislation, the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the 
Environmental Information Regulations 2004). 

 
19.5 Subject to Clause 19.4, The Parties may only disclose confidential 

information of another of the Parties to staff who need to know by reason of 

their work.  Each of the Parties shall ensure that such staff are aware of, 
and comply with, these confidentiality obligations and that such information 

is not used other than for the purposes of MKIP. 
 

19.6 If any of the Parties receives a request for information relating to the 
partnership activity under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and/or the 
Environmental Information Regulations 2004 then the other Parties shall (at 

their own expense) assist and co-operate to enable the request to be dealt 
with. 

 
19.7 If a request for information is received then the Party receiving it shall copy 

it to the other Parties and consider when making its decisions any views of 

the other Parties and ensure that the request is dealt with within the 
statutory period. 

 

19.8 Notwithstanding the provisions of 19.6 and 19.7 it shall be the Party 
receiving the request that is responsible for determining at its absolute 

discretion how to reply to the request. 

17



         APPENDIX B 

20.  Press and Public Relations 
 

20.1 Publicity in relation to the work of MKIP will be published jointly and agreed 
with the Chairman of the MKIP Board following discussions with the Parties. 

Press and public relations will be considered as part of each management 
board agenda. Any press enquiries will be circulated initially to the Chief 
Executives in consultation with Leaders for consideration.  

 
21. Exercise of Statutory Authority 

 
21.1 Without prejudice to these arrangements, nothing in these arrangements 

shall be construed as a fetter or restriction on the exercise by any of the 

Parties of their statutory functions.  The Parties may continue to provide the 
whole or any part of a service at their own cost notwithstanding that this 

service is also a Shared Service or a Joint Service.  
 
22. Conduct and Expenses 

 
22.1 Members of each of the Parties will be required to follow their own Member 

and Officer Code of Conduct at all times and in particular if any individual is 
speaking on behalf or representing the views of the MKIP. 

 
22.2 Any expenses in relation to the MKIP Board will be met by the individual 

Parties.   

 
23. Audit 

23.1 Internal audit of MKIP will be carried out by the Mid-Kent Audit Service and 
MKIP audit reports will be presented to the MKIP Board for consideration.  

Shared service audit arrangements are set out separately below and in 
shared service collaboration agreements. 

24. Complaints 
 

24.1 The Parties will co-operate in relation to complaints made about the Joint or 
Shared Services and respond to them expeditiously. 

 

25. Business Continuity 
 

25.1 The Parties will ensure that business continuity arrangements are in place, 
as part of the service plan for any Joint or Shared Service. 

18



         APPENDIX B 

Annex A 

SHARED SERVICE GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS 

1.  Collaboration Agreements 

Each shared service shall have an adopted collaboration agreement between 

the partners in the shared service which will set out the specifics for that 
service.  In order to provide a statement of MKIP’s governance intentions and 
to provide a framework while collaboration agreements are not in place or 

where they do not set out an aspect of governance the following 
arrangements shall apply as set out from clause 2. onwards.  Where there is 

a conflict between these arrangements and those set out in the specific 
collaboration agreements, the collaboration agreement takes precedence. 

2. Shared Service Boards 

2.1 For each shared service a board shall be appointed to govern the service.  
The board will have the terms of reference set out in Annex D and the 
following membership unless otherwise specified: 

• One director from each partner (or approved representatives) 

• Assurance provided by a lead accountant for shared service as well as 

other officers for specific assurance needs (legal, performance, audit 

etc.) 

3. Audit 

3.1 Each shared service will form part of the Mid-Kent Audit’s 3 year audit plan 

and will be the subject of audit arrangements in each of its partner 
authorities.  Mid-Kent Audit will carry out 1 audit for a shared service that 
will cover, and be reported to, all partners and to the Shared Service Board 

for consideration and action as appropriate.  Copies of agreed audit 
responses to limited audit reports will be circulated to the MKIP Board.  If a 

follow-up audit remains limited then this audit report will be presented to the 
MKIP Board. 

4. Performance monitoring 

4.1 MKIP will undertake 2 levels of performance monitoring.  Shared service level 
performance and overall level MKIP Performance including finance 
performance.  Shared service performance reports will produced quarterly to 

the shared service Board whilst an overall performance report will be 
presented to the MKIP Board.  Should the MKIP Board wish to request further 

information on the performance of a particular service it can do so.  
Continuous poor performance (over 3 quarters with majority of performance 
indicators being missed) will be reported to the MKIP Board by the shared 

service board as a matter of course. 

  

19



         APPENDIX B 

5. Finances 

5.1 Finance monitoring will take place in 2 forms.  MKIP finance performance will 
be measured with actual savings delivered versus predicted savings as well 

as with individual finance performance indicators relating to a shared service 
as agreed in the service plan.  Additionally the MKIP budget will be monitored 

and reported to the Board on a quarterly basis. 

5.2 Finances will also be considered in all projects including an investment 

profile, including an investment score for an investment over 5 years.  This 
will be used for existing services and for potential future services and will 
produce an overall investment score for MKIP to show the value and return 

partners receive from the MKIP partnership. 

6. Overview and Scrutiny 

6.1 Each shared service will be subject to the Overview and Scrutiny procedures 

at its partner authorities and officers will be subject to the Overview and 
Scrutiny procedure rules of the authorities.  Where more than one authority 
wishes to scrutinise a shared service or aspect of a shared service, every 

effort will be made to avoid duplication, for example through holding a joint 
Overview and Scrutiny meeting or sharing Overview and Scrutiny reports. 

7. MKIP Work Programme 

7.1 Once operational each shared service shall remain part of the MKIP Work 
Programme which will be updated with ongoing shared service improvements 

and projects. 

8. Other 

8.1 Unless otherwise specified here or in its collaboration agreement a shared 

service will remain subject to the governance arrangements of any 

employing authorities in the partnership.  This includes external audit or 
other inspections.  The collaboration agreements for each shared service set 

out the agreements on access to information between partners for a given 
service, but in the absence of specific terms, a Head of a Shared Service 
shall make information relating to the running of a shared service available 

to partners in that shared service on request as though the service were 
part of the requesting partner’s organisation, whether or not this remains 

the case (for example where the service is wholly being provided by one 
authority to another) subject to clause 19 in the Mid Kent Improvement 
Partnership section of the governance arrangements. 

 

            

20



         APPENDIX B 

Annex B 
 

 
TERMS OF REFERENCE OF THE MID KENT IMPROVEMENT PARTNERSHIP 

BOARD 
 

 

1. To approve and own the MKIP Programme and provide direction to the MKIP 

Programme Manager 

 

2. To initiates Shared Service projects and appoint project and shared service 

boards 

 

3. To sets MKIP objectives and direction 

 

4. To join together strategic plans and form an MKIP strategic plan 

 

5. To take decisions on overarching MKIP issues and policies 

 

6. To take decisions on specific project/service issues outside of the remit of the 

project and shared service boards 

 

7. To receive Audit reports with limited assurance on follow-up 

 

8. To monitors MKIP Performance and Finance and agree actions to resolve 
performance and finance issues 

9. To review these arrangements from time to time and make recommendations 
to the Parties for improvement. 

21



         APPENDIX B 

Annex C 
 

 
 

TERMS OF REFERENCE OF THE MID KENT IMPROVEMENT 
PARTNERSHIP PROJECT BOARDS 

 

 
To be responsible for the delivery of a shared service project as set out by the MKIP 

Board and in accordance with any project framework adopted by the MKIP Board, 
including: 

 

1. To identify and appoint appropriate project team members, ensuring that all 
parties’ interests and areas of expertise are adequately covered; 

 
2. To be responsible for any budget provided to the project by the MKIP Board 

and to report any variance from the budget to the MKIP Board; 

 
3. To report any variations from the tolerances set by the MKIP Board, 

specifically those that relate to quality, cost and timescales; 
 

4. To provide updates to the MKIP Board at quarterly MKIP Board meetings as a 
minimum; 

 

5. To ensure that all projects have appropriate levels of project assurance at all 

times; 
 

6. To raise any project issues with the MKIP Programme Manager in good time 
 

7. To ensure a robust communications plan is in place and to ensure regular 
liaison with partners and that partners and all stakeholders are informed on 

project progress at all times; and 
 

8. To ensure the project follows and meets all legal and statutory requirements 
for example relating to Human Resources processes or changes 

 

22



         APPENDIX B 

Annex D 
 

TERMS OF REFERENCE OF THE MID KENT IMPROVEMENT 
PARTNERSHIP SHARED SERVICE BOARDS 

Shared Service Boards will provide the following governance actions: 

a Agree the Service Plan for each Financial Year 

b  Advise on the management of and agree variations to the budgets for 

the shared service including approving items of savings and growth to 

go forward to each partner authority to form part of their annual 

budgeting process and consideration in setting their budgets for the 

service  

c Advise the relevant Head of Paid Service (or nominee) on the 

appraisals of the Joint Head of Service 

d  Receive reports on and consider the finance and performance of the 

shared service 

e Provide strategic direction as required 

f Provide reports to the MKIP Board when requested, when the Shared 

Service Board wish to raise a general MKIP issue or when the service 

underperforms (i.e. fails to meet the majority of targets over 3 

quarters) or the Shared Service Board wish to make significant 

changes to the agreed service plan 

23



         APPENDIX B 

Annex E 

Role of the MKIP Programme Manager 

1. To create and hold the MKIP programme on behalf of the MKIP Board and as 

directed by them 

2. To manage and deliver the MKIP Programme 

3. To liaise with senior officers (including s151 officers, monitoring officers, and 

Directors) to provide assurance for the MKIP programme 

4. To commission internal and external teams to deliver the MKIP work 
programme 

5. To be responsible for MKIP Communications and deliver the MKIP 

Communications Strategy 

6. To manage any MKIP budgets and the receipt of partner contributions  

7. To advise and raise any issues with the MKIP Chief Executives and MKIP 
Board as required 

8. To liaise with Shared Service Boards and managers to identify issues and 
problems impacting on shared services 

9. To follow any MKIP Project Management framework adopted by the MKIP 
Board and to ensure that all MKIP Projects are delivered in accordance with 

that framework 

10.To provide project management assurance as required by MKIP Project 

Boards 

11.To represent the interests of all MKIP Partners equally and to ensure that 
partnership working is considered in decision making at all three authorities 

12.To promote MKIP and increase awareness of the objectives and activities of 
MKIP at all times 

 

 

24



         APPENDIX B 

Annex F 

 

 

Has the request 
for action 

arisen from the 

shared service 
board? 

HoPS wishing to 
take action to 

discuss with 

Chairman of Shared 
Service Board 

HoPS 

wishing/requested 
to take action to 

discuss with other 
partnership HoPS.  

Is there 
agreement on the 
action? 

Leaders 
informed and 

due process 
followed to 

take the 
agreed action 

Leaders informed 
of disagreement.  

Has a Board 
meeting been 

requested? 

Board meeting 

held and Board 
resolution 
made.  Has an 

agreement 
been reached? 

Due process 
followed to 
take the 

agreed action 

Is an MKIP HoPS 
/or agreed 

mediator available 
who is not in the 

shared service? 

Arbitration 

procedure 
followed 

HoPS mediates 
between the 

parties. Has 
agreement 
been reached? 

Leaders 

informed and 
due process 
followed to 

take the agreed 
action 

No 

No 

No 

No 

No 

No 

Yes 

Yes 

Yes 

Yes 

Yes 

Yes 

25



Project Team Assessment Criteria - MKSD 

1. Vision and identity 

i. A medium term vision for Mid Kent Services will be produced; 

ii. A Mid Kent Services culture and way of working that complements the three authorities and 

provides a sense of identity will be produced;  

iii. MKS staff satisfaction levels will have increased; 

iv. Client (Shared Service Boards and users of the MKS services) and MKIP Board satisfaction 

levels will have increased. 

Baseline evidence for measurement of above: 

a.  Shared Service Manager Key Messages document – has the picture improved 12 months 

on? 

 (Key Messages document is the face-to-face questionnaire conducted in January 14 with all 

Shared Service Managers to gauge their feelings on MKIP and where they felt MKIP should 

go next). 

b.  Client survey results for shared services – has the picture improved 12 months on? 

c.  Staff survey results for MKS shared service staff – has the picture improved 12 months on? 

 

2. Accepting new and consolidating existing partnerships 

i. A shared service plan will be produced using a consistent MKIP service planning template for 

each Mid Kent Service; 

ii. SLAs and Collaboration Agreements will be produced for each Mid Kent Service; 

iii. Consolidate the Legal Services teams and oversee the potential alignment under one 

employer;  

iv. Complete the work to put in place enabling infrastructure for ICT partnerships to develop 

further partnerships with other authorities. 

Baseline evidence for measurement of above: 

a. Current service plans and shared service plans for each service, if any; 

b. Current Collaboration Agreements and SLAs for each service, if any. 

 

 

APPENDIX C 

26



3. Performance and governance 

i. Proposals for improving performance on key indicators, and suggestions for new indicators 

are included in the “plotting a course for the future” document (see 4. below). 

ii. Performance indicators will be consolidated and streamlined across the three authorities, 

based on the individual performance standards of each authority. 

 Baseline evidence for measurement of above: 

a.  Current performance indicators, with end of year performance targets for 13/14, if any. 

  (Any already identified business case improvements will be removed from the assessment). 

 

4. Plotting a course for the future 

i. Deliver Mid Kent Services within the budgets already set for 2014/15; 

ii. Deliver savings already identified for Mid Kent services for 2014/15; 

iii. Produce a report setting out proposals for future direction from 2015/16 (to include 

suggested savings/increased income where possible as part of each council’s MTFS process, 

and improving performance indicators). 

 Baseline evidence for measurement of above: 

a.  Budgets for each service compared with out-turn; 

b.  Savings targets already identified within each service for each council compared with 

actual savings delivered. 

 

 

27


	Agenda
	6 Review of the Mid Kent Improvement Partnership
	140707 - OS Covering report - MKIP (270614)
	140707 - Appendix A - MKIP Chart
	140707 - Appendix B - MKIP Governance Arrangements
	140707 - Appendix C - Project Team Assessment Criteria


